Filed 11-08-2021

Page 1 of 32

FILED 11-08-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2021AP1526-CR & 2021AP1527-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RASHEEM D. DAVIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from Judgments of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Glenn H. Yamahiro Presiding, and an Order Denying a Motion for Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is a dismissal of a criminal case without prejudice a "final disposition" which deprives the circuit court of further subject matter jurisdiction?

The circuit court concluded that the court had not lost jurisdiction because it had the "power to rescind" the dismissal order. (R1 43:6; R2 68:6); (App. 19).

2. Is Mr. Davis entitled to a hearing on his motion alleging that trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to a lack of personal jurisdiction?

The circuit court concluded, once again, that the dismissal order was not a final disposition and that counsel could not be ineffective for not objecting. (R1 43:7; R2 68:7); (App. 20).

3. Is Mr. Davis entitled to a hearing on his plea withdrawal motion, alleging that he only pleaded guilty in 20CF774 due to the legally infirm conviction in 19CF4828?

Because the circuit court concluded that there was nothing improper about the conviction in 19CF4828, it denied Mr. Davis' motion for plea withdrawal without a hearing. (R1 43:7; R2 68:7); (App. 20).

4. Mr. Davis was charged with robbery for taking his ex-girlfriend's cell phone. However, the undisputed record evidence shows that ARW met up with Mr. Davis shortly after reporting the incident to the police, at which time he returned the phone to her.

Based on this record evidence, was the evidence sufficient to convict Mr. Davis of robbery?

This issue is being raised for the first time on appeal. Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(h).

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested.

However, publication may be warranted as this Court has addressed a similar fact pattern raising analogous legal issues in a recent unpublished and uncitable decision.¹

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Milwaukee County Case No. 19CF4828

On October 30, 2019, the State initiated this case by filing a criminal complaint which alleged: (1) false imprisonment contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.30; (2) robbery with use of force contrary to Wis. Stat. §

¹ State v. Jenkins, Appeal No. 2017AP418-CR.

943.32(1)(a); (3) misdemeanor battery contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1); (4) disorderly conduct contrary to Wis. Stat. § 947.01; and misdemeanor bail jumping contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.49(1)(a). (R2 2:1-2).² All five charges carried the domestic abuse surcharge. (R2 2:1-2).

The complaint alleges that on October 28, 2019, ARW had a confrontation with her then-boyfriend, Mr. Davis, while attending class at Milwaukee Area Technical College (MATC). (R2 2:3). ARW told police that Mr. Davis followed her to the bathroom, pushed her inside a bathroom stall, and bit her. (R2 2:3). She also reported that Mr. Davis left the bathroom stall in possession of her iPhone. (R2 2:3). Mr. Davis was out on bail in an unrelated misdemeanor case when that incident occurred. (R2 2:3).

Milwaukee County Case No. 20CF774

On February 19, 2020, the State filed another criminal complaint charging Mr. Davis with: (1) fleeing or eluding an officer contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3); and (2) second-degree recklessly endangering safety as an act of domestic abuse contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.30(2) and 973.055(1). (R1 2:1). The complaint alleges that on October 19, 2019, police conducted a "welfare check" regarding ARW. (R1 2:2). Police attempted to conduct a traffic stop on ARW's car, which was being driven by a black male.

 $^{^2}$ This is a consolidated appeal. Counsel will use R1 to refer to the record in 21AP526 and R2 to refer to the record in 21AP527.

(R1 2:2). A brief chase ensued before officers lost sight of the car. (R1 2:2). ARW subsequently reported to police that she was in the car and that Mr. Davis was driving it during the chase. (R1 2:2-3).

Pretrial Proceedings

Mr. Davis entered speedy trial demands in both cases. (R1 49:11; R2 33:8).

On August 3, 2020, the parties appeared for the scheduled trial in 19CF4828. (R1 19:2; R2 28:2); (App. 23). Mr. Davis was not produced. (R1 19:2; R2 28:2); (App. 23). The State informed the circuit court, the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa presiding, that it was not ready to proceed because it had failed to issue subpoenas for its witnesses. (R1 19:2; R2 28:2); (App. 23). Counsel for Mr. Davis moved to dismiss. (R1 19:2; R2 28:2); (App. 23). The court granted the motion, dismissing the matter without prejudice. (R1 19:3; R2 28:3); (App. 24). It indicated that if the matter were to proceed, the State would need to refile the charges. (R1 19:3; R2 28:3); (App. 24). The parties went off the record. (R1 19:3; R2 28:3); (App. 24). The case was subsequently recalled, and the State then informed the court that its primary witness, ARW, was present in court. (R1 19:4; R2 28:4); (App. 25). The matter then proceeded to trial after being "spun" to the Honorable Glenn Yamahiro. (R1 19:4; R2 28:4); (App. 25).

Trial in 19CF4828

The State called two witnesses: Officer Christopher Peterson of the Milwaukee Police Department and ARW. (R1 23:35; R2 31:35; R1 23:52; R2 31:52).

Officer Peterson described receiving the initial report from ARW. (R1 23:38; R2 31:38). His testimony was used to admit photographs of ARW showing her injuries. (R1 23:39; R2 31:39). His body camera recording of his interaction with ARW was also played for the jury. (R1 23:44; R2 31:44). He also testified about retrieving surveillance video from MATC. (R1 23:48; R2 31:48).

ARW testified that, on the evening in question, she was in contact with Mr. Davis via text while at class at MATC. (R1 23:54; R2 31:54). When she left the classroom at around 8:00 p.m., Mr. Davis was waiting in the hallway. (R1 23:55; R2 31:55). She told Mr. Davis she wanted to break up. (R1 23:57; R2 31:57). Mr. Davis prevented ARW from walking away by grabbing her arm. (R1 23:57; R2 31:57). After about two minutes of conversation, ARW "was getting mad." (R1 23:57; R2 31:57). Likewise, Mr. Davis was also "mad" and speaking loudly. (R1 23:58; R2 31:58).

Although the pair "part[ed] ways," Mr. Davis followed ARW to the bathroom. (R1 23:58-59; R2 31:58-59). He continued to argue with ARW. (R1 23:60; R2 31:60). He then followed her into the bathroom and, ultimately, into a bathroom stall. (R1 23:60; R2 31:60). ARW told the jury that Mr. Davis "grabbed" her and demanded that she text a mutual friend that she was still in a relationship with Mr. Davis. (R1 23:61-62; R2 31:61-62). ARW did not immediately comply. (R1

23:63; R2 31:63). Mr. Davis bit her on the face and she handed him the phone. (R1 23:63; R2 31:63).

Mr. Davis took ARW's phone and left the bathroom stall. (R1 23:64; R2 31:64). ARW followed "after him" and continued "arguing" with Mr. Davis. (R1 23:65; R2 31:65). He threw something in the toilet and told ARW it was her phone. (R1 23:65; R2 31:65). He then left the bathroom and then the building itself through a fire exit, triggering a fire alarm. (R1 23:65; R2 31:65). ARW verified that her phone was not in the toilet and "ran after" Mr. Davis, eventually following him into an adjacent alley. (R1 23:65-66; R2 31:65-66).

Mr. Davis stopped and "let" ARW "catch up" to him. (R1 23:66-67; R2 31:66-67). ARW continued to yell at Mr. Davis and demand her phone. (R1 23:67; R2 31:67). In response, Mr. Davis gave ARW "his pack of cigarettes and baby pictures." (R1 23:67; R2 31:67). According to ARW, Mr. Davis wanted her to hold on to his effects "[t]o insure [sic] me that he's coming back to give me my phone." (R1 23:67; R2 31:67). She refused the offer. (R1 23:67; R2 31:67). Mr. Davis then told ARW "to meet him around the corner" because he was "scared" the police were going to "pull up" due to the still-active fire alarm. (R1 23:68; R2 31:68). Mr. Davis told ARW she "would" get her phone back. (R1 23:89-90; R2 31:89-90).

ARW waited for Mr. Davis for approximately 30 minutes. (R1 23:68; R2 31:68). She then went to the

³ She later testified that she already had his ID, which she later gave to police. (R2 31:90).

Case 2021AP001526 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-08-2021 Page 13 of 32

police to report the incident. (R1 23:68; R2 31:68). However, after ARW reported the incident, she successfully arranged for Mr. Davis to give her back the phone. (R1 23:72; R2 31:72).

After she got her phone back, ARW sent an email to the Milwaukee County District Attorney's Office with a different account of the event:

That night, I was in class. The class ended at 8:30 PM. I left around 8 pm because I was arguing with my family through text. I was sitting outside of class and Rasheem came and sat by me. He usually always met me after class. When we were sitting there I was telling him that I just needed some space and tried to walk away. He started following me trying to talk but I didn't want to. We ended up in the S building female bathroom. He followed me into the stall and kept asking if I wanted to be with him. I didn't say anything. Then he started kissing on me, then my face he was trying to give a hickey. He asked again and I said no. Then he started yelling and asked for my phone. I gave it to him, then I started screaming and he ran out of the door and then the fire door. I ran after him and he told me to meet him around the corner because the siren was going off. He still had my phone. I talked to him late that night after I went to the police station and we met at the [S]ojourner [T]ruth building before my meeting with the DA so I could get my phone back.

(R2 58:1). ARW testified that her statement about the hickey was not true and her intent was to make the incident seem "less serious." (R1 23:84; R2 31:84). On cross-examination, however, ARW stated she *was*

being truthful when she wrote the email. (R2 32:86). However, she eventually testified that parts of the email were, in fact, not true. (R1 23:86; R2 31:86; R1 23:88; R2 31:88).

ARW's testimony was also used to introduce security camera footage from MATC. The first video captures ARW and Mr. Davis' initial conversation, showing her walking over to meet up with Mr. Davis, her breaking up with him, Mr. Davis briefly blocking her from leaving, and then following her down a hallway. (R1 23:78-79; R2 31:78-79). The second video shows Mr. Davis following ARW into the bathroom. (R1 23:80; R2 31:80). The third video shows ARW following Mr. Davis out of the bathroom. (R1 23:81; R2 31:81). The fourth and final video shows the final argument over the phone in the alleyway. (R1 23:82; R2 31:82).

Aside from these witnesses, the only other evidence consisted of a stipulation that Mr. Davis was out on bail when the MATC incident occurred. (R1 23:93; R2 31:93).

Following the close of evidence, Mr. Davis was convicted of all five counts. (R2 13:1-5).

Plea in 20CF774 and Global Sentencing

Shortly after the unfavorable jury verdict, Mr. Davis agreed to resolve his remaining legal matters, including 20CF774. (R1 24:2; R2 35:2). Mr. Davis agreed to plead guilty to the fleeing charge. (R1 24:2; R2 35:2). In exchange, the remaining charge would be

dismissed and read-in, as would two other misdemeanor files. (R1 24:2; R2 35:2). Both sides would be free to argue. (R1 24:2; R2 35:2).

The State then recommended a global sentence of five years initial confinement followed by four years of extended supervision. (R1 24:9; R2 35:9). Counsel for Mr. Davis asked for an imposed and stayed prison sentence with a probation disposition. (R1 24:18; R2 35:18). The Court then sentenced Mr. Davis to a global sentence of 45 months initial confinement followed by 36 months of extended supervision. (R1 24:25; R2 35:35).

Postconviction Proceedings

Mr. Davis filed a Rule 809.30 postconviction motion seeking: (1) vacatur of the judgment of conviction in 19CF4828; (2) a hearing on his claim that trial counsel was ineffective in that case; (3) a hearing on his request for plea withdrawal with respect to 20CF774.⁴ (R1 29:1; R2 42:1).

Mr. Davis argued that the court lost subject matter jurisdiction when it dismissed 19CF4828 prior to trial and, as a result, the resulting conviction was a legal nullity. (R1 29:3; R2 42:3). Mr. Davis further argued that his lawyer was ineffective for not timely challenging the court's personal jurisdiction over him in proceeding with an unlawful trial. (R1 29:5; R2 42:5). Moreover, because Mr. Davis only pleaded guilty

⁴ The motion also sought additional sentence credit. (R1 29:1). The circuit court granted that request. (R1 43:8).

Case 2021AP001526 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-08-2021 Page 16 of 32

in 20CF774 due to the unfavorable jury verdict in 19CF4828, he also asked to withdraw his plea. (R1 29:6; R2 42:6).

The circuit court, the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa presiding, denied the motion in a written order. (R1 43; R2 68); (App. 14). The court relied heavily on persuasive case law from the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals in concluding that a dismissal order did not terminate the trial court's jurisdiction. (R1 43:4-6; R2 68:4-6); (App. 17-19. The court also focused on the fact that "jeopardy had not attached" at the time the dismissal order was entered. (R1 43:6; R2 68:6); (App. 19). Because it found that its reinstatement of the case was not legally improper, the court concluded that counsel could not have been ineffective for failing to object. (R1 43:6; R2 68:6); (App. 19). It also denied the request for plea withdrawal, which depended on a finding that the conviction in 19CF4828 was legally improper. (R1 43:7; R2 68:7); (App. 20).

This appeal follows. (R1 44; R2 71).

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court was without subject matter jurisdiction after having dismissed the action. Accordingly, any further proceedings are a legal nullity.
 - A. Legal principles.

The Wisconsin Constitution provides the circuit court with subject matter jurisdiction in criminal cases. *City of Eau Claire v. Booth*, 2016 WI 65, ¶ 7, 370 Wis. 2d 595, 882 N.W.2d 738. "Criminal subject matter jurisdiction is defined as the power of the court to inquire into the charged crime, to apply the applicable law and to declare the punishment in a court of a judicial proceeding." *Mack v. State*, 93 Wis. 2d 287, 294, 286 N.W.2d 563 (1980).

Notably, subject-matter jurisdiction cannot be lost due to an underlying legal defect such as a defective criminal complaint or an invalid law. Id. at 295. While these errors may impact the circuit court's competency to exercise its authority in a given case, they do not deprive the court of its jurisdiction. Booth, 2016 WI 65, ¶ 14. Thus, for example, even when a law is facially unconstitutional, the circuit court still has jurisdiction over the action, which is a necessary prerequisite to obtaining a ruling as to that law's constitutionality. Id., ¶ 18.

However, subject matter jurisdiction does not endow circuit courts with untethered legal authority over suspected wrongdoers. Because the court's Case 2021AP001526 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-08-2021 Page 18 of 32

subject matter jurisdiction is "conferred by law," *Mack*, 93 Wis. 2d at 294, the court's jurisdiction "attaches when the complaint is filed." *State v. Aniton*, 183 Wis. 2d 125, 129, 515 N.W.2d 302 (Ct. App. 1994). "Once criminal subject-matter jurisdiction attaches, it continues until a final disposition of the case." *Id.* "Without jurisdiction, criminal proceedings 'are a nullity." *State v. Randle*, 2002 WI App 116, ¶ 18, 252 Wis. 2d 743, 647 N.W.2d 324 (*quoting Hotzel v. Simmons*, 258 Wis. 234, 240, 45 N.W.2d 683 (1951)).

It is only once the *entire* action is disposed of that jurisdiction expires. For example, if individual counts in a multi-count information are dismissed—but then reinstated—within the same continually existing criminal case, then the court will still have jurisdiction. *State v. Asfoor*, 75 Wis. 2d 411, 424, 249 N.W.2d 529 (1977). Likewise, if the prosecutor improperly amends the charging document to add or modify the charges, that error does not impact the court's jurisdiction over an action which had been previously initiated by the proper filing of a criminal complaint. *State v. Webster*, 196 Wis. 2d 308, 319, 538 N.W.2d 810 (Ct. App. 1995).

Importantly, "[j]urisdiction over the subject matter is derived from law and cannot be waived nor conferred by consent." *Mack*, 93 Wis. 2d at 293. Whether a trial court lacks subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Schroeder*, 224 Wis. 2d 706, 711, 593 N.W.2d 76 (Ct. App. 1999).

B. The court's order dismissing the matter without prejudice was a "final disposition." Accordingly, there was no valid criminal action before the court when it tried Mr. Davis for these crimes.

In this case, the court ordered that 19CF4828 be dismissed in its totality. (R1 19:2; R2 28:2). If the State wanted to try Mr. Davis for these allegations, it was instructed to "refile" those allegations in a new criminal complaint. (R1 19:3; R2 28:3); (App. 24). Importantly, the State did not object to the Court's order dismissing the case.

Accordingly, once the Court dismissed the case—as opposed to dismissing individual counts—and indicated that the State would need to initiate a new criminal action if it wanted to try Mr. Davis for these allegations, it had entered a "final disposition" of the underlying action. Moreover, because the court never rescinded that order—and the State never asked the Court to reconsider it —the court could not *sua sponte* resurrect the case, initiate a jury trial, convict Mr. Davis, and then sentence him to prison. Post-dismissal, these actions are a legal nullity. *Randle*, 2002 WI App 116, ¶ 18.

To hold otherwise contradicts the straightforward precedents set forth above. While ordinary legal errors will not impact the court's jurisdiction, there must in fact be an existing legal action which activates or "attaches" the court's power to exercise its impressive powers under the criminal

Case 2021AP001526 Brief of Appellant Filed 11-08-2021 Page 20 of 32

code—the filing of a criminal complaint. See Aniton, 183 Wis. 2d 125 at 129. Without a live, non-dismissed case, there is nothing for the circuit court to exercise jurisdiction over. If the court is allowed to conduct a criminal trial absent an "active" complaint, the court is exercising a free-floating power untethered from law.

Here, the circuit court disagreed. However, its reasoning is unpersuasive. Rather than focusing on clearly stated Wisconsin authorities, the court relied on persuasive authority from other jurisdictions to conclude there is a "power to rescind" the oral dismissal which exists, according to the court, "at least to the point that the order of dismissal is entered on the docket." (R1 43:6; R2 68:6); (App. 19).

The court did not, however, identify any textual source for this perceived authority, nor did the court logically explain why the power to rescind attaches only to oral rulings but vanishes once those oral rulings are captured on a docket sheet. This failure to ground the "power to rescind" in any legal authority is a fatal flaw. It is a fundamental principle of our legal system that the circuit court's primary source of power is an express grant of authority from established, textually-evident sources, including most relevantly the Wisconsin Constitution. *State v. Schwind*, 2019 WI 48, ¶ 12, 386 Wis. 2d 526, 926 N.W.2d 742.

Because the court did not identify a source for its perceived power, the only possible conduit for the court's action would be its "inherent authority [...] to ensure the efficient and effective functioning of the court, and to fairly administer justice." Id., ¶ 16. However, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has instructed reviewing courts to exercise great caution in relying on inherent authority in justifying a judicial act:

Recognizing the need for caution in this area, we are careful to invoke inherent authority if, but only if, invocation is necessary to "maintain [the courts'] dignity, transact their business, [and] accomplish the purposes of their existence." *Id.* In other words, "[a] power is inherent when it is one without which a court cannot properly function."

Id., ¶ 15 (quoting *State v. Henley*, 2010 WI 97, ¶ 29, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350).

The concept of inherent authority thus recognizes that there are certain acts without which "courts would not perform their constitutionally mandated functions." *Id.*, ¶ 19. Here, however, application of inherent authority would be illogical. The court's jurisdiction derives from the constitution and attaches upon the filing of a criminal complaint. Once the complaint is dismissed, however, logically the court no longer has jurisdiction—meaning it is not exercising lawful authority. Rather than assisting the court in performing its constitutionally mandated functions, the alleged power to rescind actually allows the court to act in a circumstance where it otherwise has no authority to do so.

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