**FILED** 02-08-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS** 

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2021AP1526-CR & 2021AP1527-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RASHEEM D. DAVIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE GLENN H. YAMAHIRO, PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, THE HONORABLE FREDERICK C. ROSA, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN A. BLIMLING Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1088372

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The circuit court did not lose subject matter jurisdiction when it dismissed Davis's case without prejudice, then reversed that decision moments later.
  - A. Wisconsin's circuit courts have subject matter jurisdiction over all criminal cases, and they have the power to exercise that jurisdiction.

"Article VII, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides, in pertinent part: 'Except as otherwise provided by law, the circuit court shall have original jurisdiction in all matters civil and criminal within this state . . . ." Booth, 370 Wis. 2d 595, ¶ 7 (quoting Wis. Const. art. VII, § 8). That section of the constitution establishes a court's subject matter jurisdiction, which "refers to the power of a court to decide certain types of actions." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Smith*, 2005 WI 104, ¶ 18, 283 Wis. 2d 57, 699 N.W.2d 508). Because that power "is granted to circuit courts by [the] constitution, it cannot be 'curtailed by state statute." *Id.* (quoting *Village of* 

Trempealeau v. Mikrut, 2004 WI 79, ¶ 8, 273 Wis. 2d 76, 681 N.W.2d 190). Indeed, "a circuit court is never without subject matter jurisdiction." *Mikrut*, 273 Wis. 2d 76, ¶ 1.

That said, "a circuit court's ability to exercise the subject matter jurisdiction vested in it by the constitution may be affected by noncompliance with requirements pertaining to the invocation of that jurisdiction in individual cases." Booth, 370 Wis. 2d 595, ¶ 7 (quoting *Mikrut*, 273 Wis. 2d 76, ¶ 9). "Noncompliance with statutory mandates affects a court's competency and 'a court's "competency," as the term is understood in Wisconsin, is not jurisdictional at all, but instead, is defined as "the power of a court to exercise its subject matter jurisdiction" in a particular case." *Id.* (quoting *Smith*, 283 Wis. 2d 57, ¶ 18).

"[C]ourts have the authority to reconsider their own rulings." Butcher v. Ameritech Corp., 2007 WI App 5, ¶ 44, 298 Wis. 2d 468, 727 N.W.2d 546. Under Wis. Stat. § 806.07, a court may reconsider its prior ruling sua sponte. Larry v. Harris, 2008 WI 81, ¶ 23, 311 Wis. 2d 326, 725 N.W.2d 279 ("[C]ircuit courts are vested with the authority to grant relief from their judgments, on their own motion under Wis. Stat. § 806.07."). This includes the power to reconsider dismissal of a case. In re Paternity of M.T.H., State v. A.G.R., Jr., 140 Wis. 2d 843, 846–48, 412 N.W.2d 164 (Ct. App. 1987).

In *In re Paternity of M.T.H.*, the defendant "attack[ed] the trial court's jurisdiction to entertain a motion to reopen the judgment," by asserting "that a dismissal with prejudice gives a defendant the full legal relief to which he or she is entitled and is tantamount to a judgment on the merits." In re Paternity of M.T.H., 140 Wis. 2d at 846. According to the defendant, the "prejudicial dismissal[]" deprived "the court of jurisdiction to grant relief from such a judgment." Id. This

Court disagreed. *Id.* Examining Wis. Stat. § 806.07,³ this Court noted that the "statutory language [of section 806.07] ma[de] no exception for voluntary dismissals with prejudice." *Id.* at 847. Moreover, the court found that the "defendant ha[d] demonstrated no reason to treat a dismissal with prejudice any differently from any other variety of judgment, order or stipulation." *Id.* As a result, this Court concluded that "[S]ec. 806.07 provides a court with jurisdiction to relieve a party from a voluntary dismissal with prejudice." *Id.* 

# B. Because the circuit court had the authority to revisit its decision to dismiss the case against Davis, it continued to have subject matter jurisdiction to hear Davis's trial.

There is no question that the circuit court had both subject matter jurisdiction and competency to hear the State's case against Davis when the charges against Davis were filed. There is also no question that the court dismissed those charges against Davis without prejudice, then effectively rescinded that dismissal and allowed the case to proceed to trial. (R. 68:6.) The question presented in this case is whether the court had the ability to rescind its dismissal of the charges against Davis. If so, then the court maintained both subject matter jurisdiction and competency to hear the case and Davis's convictions must stand. And that is the case here: the circuit court acted properly by rescinding its order dismissing the charges against Davis, so everything that followed was proper. See Butcher, 298 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 44.

Davis argues that the question in this case is not one of competency but one of subject matter jurisdiction, which,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court, subject to subs. (2) and (3), may relieve a party or legal representative from a judgment, order or stipulation for" a number of enumerated reasons, including any reason "justifying relief from the operation of the judgment." Wis. Stat. § 806.07(1).

Filed 02-08-2022

according to him, "expired" immediately upon the court's dismissal of the charges against him. (Davis's Br. 18–19.) According to Davis, the dismissal in this case was a "final disposition" that terminated the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction. (Davis's Br. 19.) Davis's support for his position comes from State v. Randle, 2002 WI App 116, 252 Wis. 2d 743, 647 N.W.2d 324. (Davis's Br. 18-19.) But Randle is inapposite; it considered territorial jurisdiction, not subject matter jurisdiction.<sup>4</sup> See Randle, 252 Wis. 2d 743, ¶¶ 17–21. And as discussed, "a circuit court is never without subject matter jurisdiction." Mikrut, 273 Wis. 2d 76, ¶ 1. The only question here is whether the court had the power to exercise that jurisdiction; that is, whether the court had competency. Because the court had the authority to revisit its ruling, it also had competency to hear Davis's trial.

Even if Davis is correct that the issue in this case is one of subject matter jurisdiction, however, his claim still fails. The term "final disposition" does not appear to have been defined in any Wisconsin cases in this context. The most relevant<sup>5</sup> statutory definition, however, supports the State's argument that the circuit court could properly revisit its order dismissing the charges against Davis. Wisconsin Stat. § 893.13(1) says that "final disposition' means the end of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> To be sure, this Court in Randle likened aspects of territorial jurisdiction to subject matter jurisdiction, saying that "once [such] jurisdiction attaches, it will continue until a final disposition of a case." State v. Randle, 2002 WI App 116, ¶ 20, 252 Wis. 2d 743, 647 N.W.2d 324. But the question posed by Randle was whether Wis. Stat. § 939.03 applied to territorial jurisdiction as well as personal jurisdiction. See id. ¶¶ 10, 12. It did not consider the definition of "final disposition" or what power a court had to reconsider certain orders.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Certain statutes concern the "final disposition" of human remains, for example. E.g. Wis. Stat. § 154.30. Clearly the term means something entirely different in such a context, and is not relevant here.

period in which an appeal may be taken from a final order or judgment of the trial court." Although not a criminal statute, Wis. Stat. § 893.13 is notable because it separates the concept of a "final disposition" from the concept of a "final order or judgment"—entry of a "final order or judgment" does not constitute "final disposition" of a case. Moreover, at least one other statute refers to Wis. Stat. § 893.13 as defining "final disposition" for purposes of a criminal proceeding. See Wis. Stat. § 895.457(4)(a) (tolling statute of limitations in certain cases for "the period beginning with the commencement of a criminal proceeding. . . and ending with the final disposition, as defined in s. 893.13(1), of the criminal proceeding") (emphasis added).

Thus, even if Davis is correct that a circuit court loses subject matter jurisdiction upon "final disposition" of a case, such final disposition does not occur immediately upon entry of a final *order* for purposes of appeal. The court here was free to revisit its order dismissing charges moments after issuing it. And because it effectively rescinded that order, it retained subject matter jurisdiction through the entire course of Davis's trial.

Davis complains that the circuit court failed to identify a conduit for its authority to rescind its order granting dismissal. (Davis's Br. 20–21.) This is irrelevant; this Court can affirm a circuit court's decision on different grounds than those upon which the circuit court rested its decision. See, e.g., State v. Smiter, 2011 WI App 15, ¶ 9, 331 Wis. 2d 431, 793 N.W.2d 920. Moreover, to the extent Davis's argument is that the circuit court lacks the inherent authority to revisit dismissal of charges mere moments after issuing an order, case law suggests otherwise. See, e.g., Butcher, 298 Wis. 2d 468, ¶ 44 ("courts have the authority to reconsider their own rulings").

In re Paternity of M.T.H. is also instructive. In that case, this Court held that Wis. Stat. § 806.07 allowed a circuit

court to reopen a case following an order granting dismissal with prejudice. See In re Paternity of M.T.H., 140 Wis. 2d at 847. This Court so held because nothing in the statutory language of Wis. Stat. § 806.07 made an exception for dismissal of a case with prejudice. *Id.* The same logic applies here. If Wis. Stat. § 806.07 allows a court to revisit a decision granting dismissal with prejudice, then certainly it allows a court to revisit a decision to grant dismissal without prejudice; neither is excepted from the statutory language. See Wis. Stat. § 806.07(1). Regardless of whether the circuit court specifically acted under Wis. Stat. § 806.07, the import of the statute and of this Court's decision in *In re Paternity of M.T.H.* is clear: dismissal of an action does not automatically and irrevocably divest a circuit court of competency to act. Instead, the court maintains authority to take certain actions, including revisiting an order of dismissal.6

Finally, Davis suggests that *State v. Asfoor*, 75 Wis. 2d 411, 249 N.W.2d 529 (1977), dictates that the dismissal of all charges in the first case against Davis was a "final disposition." (Davis's Br. 22.) It does not. *Asfoor* concerned the dismissal and subsequent reinstatement of felony charges against the defendant. *Asfoor*, 75 Wis. 2d at 422–23. Asfoor argued, among other things, that the circuit court lost

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The State acknowledges that the applicability of Wis. Stat. § 806.07 to criminal cases is debatable. For example, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held in *State v. Henley* that the statute is not available to criminal defendants as an alternative avenue for seeking a new trial. *See State v. Henley*, 2010 WI 97, ¶¶ 67−71, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350. However, the court's decision in *Henley* was largely premised on the fact that other statutes controlled the appeal process, including the process for seeking a new trial in the interest of justice. *See id*.

Regardless, the State's position is not that Wis. Stat. § 806.07 confers competency on circuit courts in criminal cases. Rather, the State's point is that the statute establishes that a court does not lose competency by dismissing charges without prejudice.

Filed 02-08-2022

jurisdiction over the dismissed charges when the court originally granted dismissal. Id. The Wisconsin Supreme Court disagreed, stating that the circuit court did not lose jurisdiction because "[t]he dismissal by the circuit judge of two of the three counts in the information was not the final disposition. Jeopardy had not attached. The dismissal was without prejudice and the charges could be reinstated. The circuit court had subject-matter jurisdiction as to the original charges." *Id.* at 424 (citations omitted).

Importantly, the court in Asfoor did not hold that dismissal of all three counts in the information would have constituted a "final disposition." See id. Moreover, the other reasons for the court's decision to sanction the reinstatement of the charges against the defendant are also present here; jeopardy did not attach, and the dismissal was without prejudice. Id. Thus, if anything, Asfoor supports the circuit court's action here.

Whether the question in this case is one of subject matter jurisdiction or one of competence, the end result is the same. A court does not lose all ability to act as soon as it orders the dismissal of charges against a defendant. The court retains certain authority, including the authority to revisit and rescind the dismissal order. That is what happened in this case; the circuit court maintained jurisdiction and the power to exercise it throughout. This Court should affirm.

- II. Davis's counsel was not ineffective because the circuit court had personal jurisdiction over Davis.
  - A. A defendant does not receive ineffective assistance of counsel for counsel's decision not to pursue a meritless argument.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must prove the familiar two-pronged test: both that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. State v. Smith, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273, 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997). With respect to the "performance" prong of the test, a strong presumption exists that counsel acted properly within professional norms, and the defendant must demonstrate that his attorney made serious mistakes that could not be justified in the exercise of objectively reasonable professional judgment, deferentially all from considering the circumstances counsel's contemporary perspective to eliminate the distortion of hindsight. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689–91. Moreover, "counsel is not required to argue a point of law that is unclear," State v. Thayer, 2001 WI App 51, ¶ 14, 241 Wis. 2d 417, 626 N.W.2d 811, nor is counsel required to pursue claims that are without merit. See State v. Dalton, 2018 WI 85, ¶ 53, 383 Wis. 2d 147, 914 N.W.2d 120. In short, trial counsel is not ineffective for "failing to make meritless arguments." State v. Allen, 2017 WI 7, ¶ 46, 373 Wis. 2d 98, 890 N.W.2d 245.

В. Davis does not—and cannot—show ineffective assistance of counsel because the circuit court had personal jurisdiction over Davis, so counsel's performance was neither deficient nor prejudicial.

Davis claims that the trial court was without personal jurisdiction over him because it lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear his case after dismissing the charges

against him, then rescinding that order and moving to trial. (Davis's Br. 24–25.) He further claims that his attorney was ineffective for failing to object to this supposed lack of jurisdiction. (Davis's Br. 24–25.) While the structure of Davis's argument suggests a relationship between subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction, the two are distinct concepts. See Rasmussen v. General Motors Corp., 2011 WI 52, ¶ 15 n.19, 335 Wis. 2d 1, 803 N.W.2d 623 ("Personal jurisdiction' is distinct from 'subject matter jurisdiction' in that personal jurisdiction refers to the court's power to exercise jurisdiction over a given individual. By contrast, subject matter jurisdiction is the power under the Wisconsin Constitution to hear a particular controversy.") (citations omitted).

Regardless, this Court can dispose of this claim easily. If the circuit court did lose subject matter jurisdiction over Davis's case, then it is not required to reach this issue because the first issue would be dispositive. If, however, the court did not lose subject matter jurisdiction, then Davis has no argument remaining that personal jurisdiction was improper. Any objection to the court's personal jurisdiction would have been meritless, and counsel was not ineffective for failing to make it. *See Allen*, 373 Wis. 2d 98, ¶ 46. Because the circuit court did not lose subject matter jurisdiction, this Court should affirm.

### III. Davis was not entitled to withdraw his guilty pleas.

A. A defendant seeking to withdraw his plea to a criminal charge must demonstrate that failure to allow plea withdrawal will result in a manifest injustice.

When a defendant seeks to withdraw his plea after sentencing, he must prove by clear and convincing evidence that plea withdrawal is necessary to avoid a manifest

Filed 02-08-2022

injustice. Brown, 293 Wis. 2d 594, ¶ 18. "The clear and convincing standard for plea withdrawal after sentencing, which is higher than the 'fair and just' standard before sentencing, 'reflects the State's interest in the finality of convictions, and reflects the fact that the presumption of innocence no longer exists." State v. Taylor, 2013 WI 34, ¶ 48, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482 (citation omitted).

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